
PART IV


ENGINEERS TRIUMPHANT:


CONSTRUCTION NEAR COMPLETION

The Scope of Work
Despite its travails, the Vicksburg District had, by November 1942, completed or neared completion on over forty military projects.    In Mississippi, these included major Air Corps facilities at Jackson, Meridian, Greenville, and Greenwood; auxiliary air fields at Avalon, Cruger, Greenville, Indianola, Lime Prairie, Oxberry, Paynes, Tchula, Walker, and Raymond; the Air Support Command Base at Grenada; an alien internment camp at Como; the ordnance Training Center and Ordnance Plant at Flora; and Camp McCain near Grenada.  The district had also begun work on a 950‑bed general hospital in Jackson and alien internment camps at Clinton and Camp McCain.

In Louisiana, the Vicksburg engineers supervised major additions at Barksdale Field at Shreveport, including hangars, bombing ranges, and additions to runways; the Air Support Command Base at Pollock; a reception center and navigation school at Monroe; a holding and reconsignment center at Shreveport; auxiliary air fields at Yellow Bayou and Kimbrough; an enemy internment camp at Ruston; and major ordnance plants at Minden and Sterlington.

Arkansas projects included the massive Ozark Ordnance Works at El Dorado; an alien internment camp at Monticello; an Army and Navy general hospital at Hot Springs; and Japanese-American civilian relocation centers at Jerome and Rohwer.

Camp McCain
The largest individual project in the district was Camp McCain, an Army Triangular Divisional Training Camp near Grenada, Mississippi.  Camp McCain covered an area of over 40,000 acres and served as an infantry training site with facilities for 45,000 men.  The first unit activated there was the 87th Infantry, the "Acorn" Division, in December 1942.  Ironically, the first commanding officer of the division at its formation during World War I had been Maj.  Gen.  Samuel Sturgis, father of the Vicksburg District Engineer.

Other divisions trained with the 87th at McCain were the 84th and 94th infantry.  All saw extensive combat in France, Belgium, and the Rhinelands in 1944-45.  The nearby Grenada Air Support Command Base, started August 10, 1942, housed over 2,000 additional troops.  

 Army Air Corps Facilities
Greenwood Basic Flying School, Mississippi, was the largest of the "new" wartime Army Air Corps facilities built from the ground up by the district.  Constructed under Sturgis' direction in three months at a cost of $7 million, the Air Corps activated the 5,200‑acre compound in October 1942, with the first class arriving in December.  By mid-1943 the base served as a home for 55 administrative and staff personnel, 24 hospital employees, 131 flight instructors, 72 WACS, 430 aviation cadets, 198 quartermasters, a 30‑man band, finance and signal officers, and over 1,000 aviation squadron trainees, 180 of whom were black.  Eventually over 3,500 people were housed.  Five auxiliary fields‑‑Tchula, Cruger, Avalon, Oxberry, and Paynes‑‑circled the base within a 20‑mile radius.

The Jackson Air Corps Project had the unusual distinction of serving not only as a base for American fliers, but was also selected as the training site for Dutch pilots from the East Indies, particularly Java.  It was supposedly the only such base in this hemisphere to fly the flag of the Netherlands in addition to the Stars and Stripes.  The king and queen of the Netherlands, while in wartime exile, personally visited the facility.

Fliers trained in the district saw service with units in every theater of the war, including Alaska, Australia, New Guinea, the Philippines, India, Burma, China, Great Britain, France, Algeria, Tunisia, Italy, and Germany.  They manned a variety of warplanes from P-38 and P-51 fighters to B-17 and B-25 bombers, plus a multitude of other troop carrier, reconnaissance, and liaison craft. (A list of units trained at district facilities is included as Addendum B.)

Ordnance Plants
The Army transferred three-high priority ordnance plants from the Quartermasters to the Vicksburg engineers in January 1942.  In August 1941, the QMC had broken ground for the Louisiana Ordnance Works, a shell-loading plant near Minden, Louisiana.  Completed by the Corps by June 30, 1942, it cost a total of $25,336,000, making it the most expensive project in the district.

At Sterlington, Louisiana, the QMC had also started work on the Dixie Ordnance Works, an ammonia plant, in October 1941.  The plant in 1942, under engineer management, was plagued by labor problems, particularly shortages of skilled pipefitters and pipefitting welders.  By fall there were no pipefitter welders available whatsoever, causing a virtual shutdown of most operations.  Consequently, the job was one of the few in the district that lagged far behind schedule and was only sixty-five percent completed when transferred from the Vicksburg District to the Corps Little Rock District in December 1942. 

Near Flora, Mississippi, the Vicksburg District completed the Mississippi Ordnance Plant, a bag loading facility, in July 1942 at a cost of over $14 million.  The following month the district began the addition of a massive ordnance training unit at the site which was seventy-five percent completed within four months.  Covering almost 7,000 acres, the two facilities served as a base for 8,553 personnel.

The engineers started a fourth ordnance plant at El Dorado, Arkansas, in April 1942.  The Ozark Ordnance works, an ammonia nitrate plant, was seventy-five percent complete by December at a cost of $12,265,000.  When finished, its huge gas engine building housed approximately seventy diesel engines which possibly produced more horsepower under one roof than any facility in the world.  At its peak the plant served as a workplace for 1,500 men.

Relocation Centers
Perhaps the most unusual district projects were Japanese​-American civilian relocation centers at Jerome and Rohwer, Arkansas.  When in February 1942 the federal government made the decision to relocate 110,000 American citizens of Japanese ancestry, the Army designated the Vicksburg District as one of the Corps organizations to provide facilities.  This created complications because the engineers were unaccustomed to fabricating housing for family units.  A shortage of plumbers, plumbing supplies, and other materials necessitated numerous changes in design.    Also, according to a district pamphlet published in 1942, furniture had to be scaled down to fit an average height of 5 ft. 4 in. rather than the Army standard of 5 ft. 9 in., though this is not verified by other sources. 

In any case, the 3,500-person capacity camps were built with the usual speed, being ready for occupancy within seventy-five days after commencement of construction and completed within ninety days of the same.  According to Sturgis, they were the only such centers in the country finished on schedule.

Enemy Internment Camps
The Vicksburg District was a logical location for enemy internment camps.  Far from major population and transportation centers, the area provided an isolated environment from which there was little chance of escape.  The district started construction of three major prisoner of war camps in 1942:  Como, Mississippi; Ruston, Louisiana; and Monticello, Arkansas.  Each was a miniature city, as were the Japanese-American relocation centers.  In fact, numerous structures and specifications were identical.

All prisoner of war camps were similar in design, containing barracks for prisoners and guards, housing for officers and nurses, hospitals, recreation areas, mess halls, fire stations, and cold storage plants.  Each covered approximately 800 acres, cost around $1.8 million, and housed 3,000 prisoners and 500 other personnel.  The Como and Monticello camps were later expanded to hold 6,000.  The district, also by the end of 1942, had acquired real estate and started planning for other camps at Clinton, Mississippi, and at Camp McCain, Mississippi.  By mid-1943, the camps were filled to capacity, primarily with Axis prisoners captured in North Africa.  Germans almost exclusively populated Como and Ruston, while Monticello was entirely Italian. 

Budgetary Growth
The magnitude of the district's role was reflected by its budgetary growth.  Construction expenditures on civil projects by the district in the 1930s averaged about $10 million per year.  In fiscal 1939 this increased to $16.7 million and in 1940 held steady at $16.4 million. 

In fiscal 1941, with the shift to airfield construction early in the calendar year, expenditures on civil projects actually decreased to $14.4 million while the newly created military budget amounted to $6.5 million.  These figures were dwarfed by the fiscal 1942 budget which showed expenditures of $26 million on civil projects and a whopping $76.9 million on military construction.

Despite the enormous increase in expenditures, the number of Corps employees did not grow correspondingly.  In 1939 the district had some 4,300 employees, while in 1942‑‑at the peak of construction activity‑‑this had only increased to 6,100.  Thus, the number of Corps employees district-wide had grown by only forty-one percent while construction had increased over 600 percent during the three-year period.  Total manpower figures for the district reflected that, in mid-1942, some 22,703 people were active on area projects. 

This placed Vicksburg eighth nationally in terms of manpower utilized among forty-seven Corps districts involved in military construction.  Only such giants as Kansas City, New York, and Chicago employed more. 

Achievement Recognized
The success of the Vicksburg District did not go unnoticed.  In December 1941, Undersecretary of the Army Robert Patterson commended Sturgis on his "splendid record" in air field construction, especially noting that the Basic Flying School at Greenville, Mississippi, was nearing completion ahead of schedule at a cost nearly $200,000 less than the original estimate.  Chief of Engineers Reybold also wrote Sturgis in 1942 that "Your achievement reflects credit upon the entire Engineer Department."

Sturgis, promoted to Colonel in June 1942, was quick to share praise with his subordinates.  True, the Vicksburg staff had shown an exceptional ability to adjust to difficult circumstances, but the DE noted that the primary reason for the district's record was plain hard work.  Normal peacetime rules, he noted, no longer applied.  Instead, all personnel were expected to stick to their jobs through completion regardless of hardship.  Executive Assistant Kenneth McLaughlin recalled that workdays from 5 a.m. to 11 p.m. were common, as were attendant cases of exhaustion.  In February 1943, long-time Chief of Operations Division Lipscomb actually died at his desk in the Vicksburg office of a stroke possibly induced by fatigue.  Work in the fields also had its trying moments, as when a black workman, sent into the pits once too often, hit his supervisor on the head with a shovel.  Still, the work went on.
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